UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CASE NUMBER

1:07CV00038

JUDGE: Colleen Kollar-Kotelly

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

DECK TYPE: General Civil
Plaintiff,

DATE STAMP: 01/08/2007

v.
COMPLAINT
SUZANNE BROWN,

I

Defendant.

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC" or "Commission") alleges for its
Complaint against Defendant Suzanne Brown:
NATURE OF THE ACTION

1.

Defendant Suzanne Brown and executives of U.S. Foodservice, Inc. ('USF"),

a

subsidiary of Royal Ahold (Koninklijke Ahold N.V.) ("Ahold'), engaged in a large-scale fiaud
that, for fiscal years 2001 and 2002, materially overstated income by approximately $700 million
in Commission filings and other public announcements. Brown's illegal acts and failures to act,
as described below, occurred in 2002 and early 2003, when Brown was USF's Corporate
Controller.
2.

A significant portion of the operating income for USF, a foodservice and

distribution company, was derived fiom promotional allowances ('PAS") paid by company
vendors. At the instruction of USF executives who supervised her, Brown directed that
materially overstated PA entries be recorded in the books and records of USF. These entries did
not reflect the company's actual operating performance; instead, they were determined solely by

what USF required to make its budgeted earnings. At the time of these entries, Brown knew, or
was reckless in not knowing, that the entries improperly inflated operating income reported on
USF's financial statements, which were consolidated into Ahold's Commission filings and other
public statements.
3.

In conjunction with, and at the instruction of, USF executives, Brown made or

directed others to make entries in USF's books and records that she knew, or was reckless in not
knowing, were false, without basis in fact, and did not comply with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles. These entries inclcded releases of reserves and accruals to make up for
earnings shortfalls.
4.

Brown, in conjunction with USF executives, also provided Ahold's independent

auditors with false andfor misleading information in connection with their reviews and audit of
USF's financial statements.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
5.

The Commission brings this action pursuant to Sections 2 1(d) and 21(e) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 U.S.C. 99 78u(d) and 78u(3)].
6.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(e) and 27 of

the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(e) and 78aal. Defendant directly or indirectly has made use
of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the facilities of a
national securities exchange in connection with the transactions, acts, practices and courses of
business alleged herein. Certain transactions, acts, practices and courses of business that are the
subject of this action, including filings with the SEC, occurred within this District, and venue is
proper pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act.

DEFENDANT
7.

Suzanne Brown, age 40, resides in Maryland. During the times relevant to this

action, Brown was Corporate Controller of USF in its Columbia, Maryland headquarters. Brown
joined USF in July 1998, and served as an Assistant Controller until her promotion to Controller

in late 2001. Brown did not serve as an officer or director of USF or Ahold, nor did she have
primary responsibility for the calculation of PAS. Brown is a Certified Public Accountant
licensed in the state of Pennsylvania.
RELATED ENTITIES
8.

Ahold is a publicly-held company organized in the Netherlands with securities

registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act. Ahold's
common stock trades in the United States on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol

AH0 as evidenced by American Depositary Receipts.
9.

USF, a foodservice and distribution company with headquarters in Columbia,

Maryland, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ahold.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

10.

During the relevant period, Brown's compensation was based on, among other

things, USF's ability to meet or exceed budgeted earnings goals that were set by Ahold
management. Specifically, Brown and USF executives were eligible to receive significant
bonuses if USF met its budgeted earnings. Despite Brown's illegal acts as described herein,
Brown did not receive a bonus for fiscal year 2002, as the fraud at USF was discovered before
her bonus was paid.
11.

For interim reporting during fiscal year 2002, USF purportedly estimated an

overall "promotional allowance recognition rate," or "PA rate," and recorded periodic PA

accruals based on that rate. The PA rate purportedly represented a good-faith estimate of PA
income, as a percentage of USF's total net sales, earned under the PA arrangements between
USF and all of its vendors.
12.

The PA rate was purportedly calculated by USF's PA accounting group, which did

not report to Brown. While Brown may not have had direct responsibility for the tracking of PA
income and the calculation of PA rate entries, she did execute, or direct that others execute,
entries in USF's books and records relating to PAS based on representations fiom her supervisors
and the PA accounting group that she knew, or was reckless in not knowing, were false.
13.

During 2002, the PA rate supposedly was an estimate based on various objective

factors. USF's quarterly financial results were based, in part, on purported estimates of PA
income recorded on the basis of the PA rate.
14.

Brown knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that the PA rate used to calculate

these entries was not a good-faith estimate of USF's real PA income, but instead the PA rate was
calculated to arrive at a false income entry that was recorded in USF's general ledger to meet
USF's budgeted earnings expectations (i.e., a "plug").
15.

After September 11,2001, USF experienced significantly underperforming sales.

To make it appear that USF was still meeting earnings targets in the first quarter of fiscal year
2002, Brown, at the direction of USF executives, instructed USF accounting personnel to book
fictitious PA income and other improper accounting adjustments (including, for example,
improper releases of reserves and accruals). These improper entries made it falsely appear that
USF had met its earnings target for the quarter.
16.

Brown knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that these improper accounting

entries inflated USF's earnings for the first quarter of fiscal year 2002, and rendered materially

false and misleading Ahold's public disclosures and SEC filings containing its first quarter
results.
17.

For the second quarter of fiscal year 2002, Brown, at the direction of USF

executives, instructed USF accounting personnel to book fictitious PA income and other
improper accounting adjustments (including, for example, improper releases of reserves and
accruals). These improper entries made it falsely appear that USF had met its earnings target for
the quarter.
18.

Brown knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that these improper accounting

entries inflated USF's earnings for the second quarter of fiscal year 2002, and rendered materially
false and misleading Ahold's public disclosures and SEC filings containing its second quarter
results.
19.

For the third quarter of fiscal year 2002, Brown, at the direction of USF

executives, instructed USF accounting personnel to book fictitious PA income and other
improper accounting adjustments (including, for example, improper releases of reserves and
accruals). These improper entries made it falsely appear that USF had met its earnings target for
the quarter.
20.

Brown knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that these improper accounting

entries inflated USF's earnings for the third quarter of fiscal year 2002, and rendered materially
false and misleading Ahold's public disclosures and SEC filings containing its third quarter
results.
21.

For the fourth quhter of fiscal year 2002 and during the year-end closing process,

Brown, at the direction of USF executives, instructed USF accounting personnel to book

fictitious PA income and other improper accounting adjustments. These improper entries made it
falsely appear that USF had met its earnings target for the year.
22.

By fiaudulently increasing the PA income recorded at USF throughout 2002 and

making other improper accounting entries, USF management, including Brown, made it falsely
appear that USF had met its annual operating earnings targets, thereby putting themselves in a
position to receive significant bonuses for fiscal year 2002. In spite of these efforts, the fraud at
USF was discovered before Brown's bonus was paid.
23.

By the end of fiscal year 2002, USF had booked approximately $1.2 billion in

corporate PA income, much of which was fictitious. In addition, the corporate PA receivable
balance was overstated by approximately $700 million. While Brown was not the architect of, or
principal actor in, the USF fi-aud, Brown played a significant role in it, as almost all of the

fraudulent entries were made by her or her subordinates.
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.
tj 240.10b-51 Thereunder

8 78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 [17 C.F.R.
24.

Paragraphs 1through 23 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

25.

By reasan of the foregoing, Defendant Brown directly or indirectly, acting

intentionally, knowingly or recklessly, by use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate
commerce or of the mails, in connection with the purchase of securities: (a) employed devices,
schemes or artifices to defiaud; (b) made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under

-

which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices or courses of business
which operated as a fiaud or deceit upon other persons.
26.

By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Brown violated and, in addition or in the

alternative, aided and abetted Ahold and USF's violations of Section lo@) of the Exchange Act
and Exchange Act Rule lob-5.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Reporting

Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchange
Act 115 U.S.C. 5 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 [17 C.F.R.
240.12b-20 and 5240.13a-11 Thereunder
27.

Paragraphs 1 through 26 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

28.

The Exchange Act and rules promulgated thereunder require every issuer of a

registered security to file reports with the Commission that accurately reflect the issuer's
financial performance and provide other true and accurate information to the public.
29.

By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Brown aided and abetted Ahold's

violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 thereunder.
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Record Keeping

Violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A), (b)(2)(B) and (b)(5) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $8 78m(b)(2)(A), (b)(2)(B), and (b)(5)]
and Rule 13b2-1 117 C.F.R. 5 240.13b2-11 Thereunder
30.

Paragraphs 1 through 29 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

3 1.

The Exchange Act and rules promulgated thereunder require each issuer of

registered securities to make and keep books, records, and accounts which, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the business of the issuer and to devise and maintain a system of

internal controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that, among other things,
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements and to
maintain the accountability of accounts. The Exchange Act and rules promulgated thereunder
further prohibit any person fiom directly, or indirectly, falsifying any such required book, record
or account and prohibit any person fiom knowingly circumventing or failing to implement such a
system of internal accounting controls.
32.

By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Brown aided and abetted Ahold's

violations of Sections 13@)(2)(A)and 13@)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act.
33.

By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Brown violated Section 13@)(5)of the

Exchange Act and Exchange Act Rule 13b2-1.
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Misrepresentations to Auditors

Violations of Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2 [ 17 C.F.R. 5 240.13b2-21
34.

Paragraphs 1 through 33 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

35.

The Exchange Act further prohibits the making, or causing to be made, materially

false or misleading statements or omissions to an accountant in connection with any required
audit, review or examination of the financial statements of any issuer or the preparation or filing
of any document or report required to be filed with the Commission.
36.

By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Brown aided and abetted violations by

Ahold's directors and officers of Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court enter a judgment:
a) permanently enjoining Defendant fi-om violating Exchange Act Sections 10(b) and
13@)(5)and Exchange Act Rules lob-5 and 13b2-1;
b) permanently enjoining Defendant fi-om aiding and abetting any violations of
Sections 13(a), 13@)(2)(A), and 13@)(2)(B)of the Exchange Act and Exchange
Act Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13b2-2;
c) ordering Defendant to pay a civil monetary penalty pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of
the Exchange Act in respect of her violations;
d) prohibiting Defendant fi-om acting as an officer or director of a public company
pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act; and
e) granting such other relief as this Court may deem just and appropriate.

Dated: January 8,2007
Respectfully submitted,

a
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Securities and Exchange Commission
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